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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington DC 20463

"THIS IS THE BEGINNING OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE # /27
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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

March 28, 2005 §ENSHWE

MEMORANDUM
| TO: THE COMMISSION % /
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON % :
STAFF DIRECTOR

oo
g © ROBERTJ. COSTA %
~ DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR
Py
" FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON ﬁ}é{'
o ASSISTANT STAFF/DIRECTOR
Ve REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
™

; SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -

2004 12 DAY PRE-GENERAL AND 30 DAY POST-
GENERAL REPORTS FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINES PROGRAM

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers who
failed to file or timely file the 2004 12 Day Pre-General and/or the 2004 30 Day
Post-General Reports in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). The 12 Day Pre-
General list is comprised of unauthorized committees filing quarterly that made
general election contributions or expenditures from October 1, 2004 through
October 13, 2004. The 30 Day Post-General list 1s comprlsed of authorized
committees whose candidates sought election in the November 2" General
Election, as well as unauthorized committees filing either quarterly or monthly.

On September 27, 2004, Prior Notice was sent to the political committees
and their treasurers, informing them that the 12 Day Pre-General Report was due
on October 21, 2004 and should cover the period from October 1, 2004 through
October 13, 2004. The same Prior Notice informed the committees that the 30 Day
Post-General Report was due on December 2, 2004 and should cover the period
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from October 14, 2004 to November 22, 2004 or from October 1,.2004 through
November 22, 2004, if the 12 Day Pre-General Report was not required. On
November 5, 2004, a reminder notice was sent to the committees.

The committees appearing on the 12 Day Pre-General Report list failed to
file the report prior to four (4) days before the General Election (considered a non-
filed report). The committees appearing on the 30 Day Post-General Report list
either failed to file the report, filed the report more than five (5) days after the due
date or filed the report more than thirty (30) days after the due date (considered a
non-filed report). In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.43, these committees should
be assessed the civil money penalties included on the attached lists.

As noted above, this circulation includes unauthorized committees filing
quarterly that failed to file or failed to timely file the 12 Day Pre-General Report.
Unlike unauthorized committees that file on a monthly basis, a quarterly filer need
only file this report if it made general election contributions or expenditures
between the dates of October 1, 2004 and October 13, 2004. In order to accurately
identify the committees for administrative fines purposes, the Reports Analysis
Division (RAD) used the following procedures and criteria:

o Every 12 Day Pre-General Report (12 Day Report) submitted by an
unauthorized quarterly filer was reviewed to ensure that it disclosed general
election contributions or expenditures made during the coverage dates of the
report. Any report meeting this definition that was filed late is included in the
list. Any report not disclosing gencral election contributions or expenditures
during this period is not included in the list, as it is not a required filing.

e Every 30 Day Post-General Report (30 Day Report) submitted by an
unauthorized quarterly filer that covered the period from October 1, 2004
through November 22, 2002 (53 days), was reviewed for activity which would
have required the filing of a 12 Day Report. If our research indicated that the
12 Day Report was required, we utilized a two-step method to arrive at the
estimated level of activity on which to base the fine amount. First, we found
the per diem level of activity by dividing the total amount of activity on the
report by 53 days; second, we multiplied that quotient by 13 days. If the same
committee also failed to file the 30 Day Report in a timely manner, we based
the 30 Day Report fine on the amount of the remaining level of activity. We
arrived at this amount by subtracting the estimated level of activity for the 12
Day Report from the total amount of activity on the 30 Day Report. In these
cases, the committees will appear on both lists and will be assessed a fine for

both the 12 Day and 30 Day Reports based on the estimated levels of activity
described above. .
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e Rather than filing a 12 Day Report or a 30 Day Report, some committees filed
a Year End Report covering October 1, 2004 through December 31, 2004. .
Here, we based the fine on the estimated level of per diem activity occurring
within the dates of the 12 Day Report, if required, and/or the 30 Day Report.

Recommendation

1. Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers listed
on the RTB Circulation Reports violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalties would be the amounts
indicated on the RTB Circulation Reports.

2. Send the appropriate mailgrams.
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2004 30 Day Post-General Circulation Report
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

SENSITIVE

DATE & TIME TRANSMITTED: Monday, March 28, 2005 4:00

RETURN TO COMMISSION SECRETARY BY: Thursday, March 31, 2005 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT: RTB Recommendation — 2004 12 Day Pre-General and 30 Day Post-
General Reports For The Administrative Fines Program
Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director, Reports Analysis
Division dated March 28, 2005.

() | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
() | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#) '

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Reason To Believe Recommendation - 2004
12 Day Pre-General Circulation Report for
The Administrative Fines Program:
CALUMET PAC, and TERRENCE
BRONOWSKI as treasurer;

AF#1270

N N N N N N S’

M

My

~ BLUE SHIELD OF CALIFORNIA

P POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and

L STEVEN STURMAN as treasurer;

R

) E

ey I
1)

™ EXPERIAN PAC, and Reeves, Tony as

treasurer;

! : FIRST CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(FIRST CITIZENS BANCSHARES PAC),
and ALEXANDER G MACFADYEN JR as
treasurer;
TUOE LOCAL 542 OPERATING
ENGINEERS POLITICAL ACTION
FUND, and ROBERT T HEENAN as
treasurer;
LIVESTOCK MARKETING
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (LMA-PAC), and GARY S
SMITH as treasurer;
NEWMONT MINING CORPORATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(NEWPAC), and Mary Elizabeth Donnelly
as treasurer;

AF# 1272

AF# 1274

AF# 1275

AF# 1276

AF# 1277

AF# 1278

N N N N N N N N N N S N N N N S N N N’



(|
By
oy
[t}

oy

iﬂﬁ

™\
i
(e
(¥4}
")

25092572332

Federal Election Commission ' Page 2
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 01, 2005

UNITED BROTHERHOOD OF AF# 1279
CARPENTERS/JOINERS OF AMER NEW

ENGLAND REG CARPENTERS LEGIS

EMP CMTE, and GLENN MARSHALL as

treasurer;

WOMEN WORKING FOR THE FUTURE ) AF# 1281
AKA THE FUTURE PAC, and Huffman, )
Alice as treasurer; )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby
certify that on April 01, 2005 the Commission took the following actions on the Reason
To Believe Recommendation - 2004 12 Day Pre-General Circulation Report for The
Administrative Fines Program as recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated April 01, 2005, on the following committees:

AF#1270 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that CALUMET
PAC, and TERRENCE BRONOWSKI as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on

the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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Federal Election Cog'lission . Page 3

Certification for Administrative Fines
April 01, 2005

AF#1272 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that BLUE SHIELD
OF CALIFORNIA POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and STEVEN STURMAN as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub
voted affirmatively for the decision.

i

AF#1274 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that EXPERIAN
PAC, and Reeves, Tony as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report,
(2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1275 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that FIRST
CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FIRST
CITIZENS BANCSHARES PAC), and ALEXANDER G MACFADYEN JR as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1276 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that [UOE LOCAL
542 OPERATING ENGINEERS POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and ROBERT T
HEENAN as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and
Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1277 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that LIVESTOCK
MARKETING ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (LMA-PAC), and
GARY S SMITH as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1278 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that NEWMONT
MINING CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (NEWPAC), and
Mary Elizabeth Donnelly as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
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determination that the civil money penaity would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1279 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that UNITED
BROTHERHOOD OF CARPENTERS/JOINERS OF AMER NEW ENGLAND REG
CARPENTERS LEGIS EMP CMTE, and GLENN MARSHALL as treasurer violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would
be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF#1281 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that WOMEN
WORKING FOR THE FUTURE AKA THE FUTURE PAC, and Huffman, Alice as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub
voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
(loid ) 2005 %&.W YU e
/ Date Mary W. Pove

Secretarp/of the Commission
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CONFIRMATION OF CMGM TOsALEXANDER G MACFADYEN JR
FIRST CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC POLITICAL
3128 SMOKETREE CT
RALEIGH NC 27604-1014

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
DAYNA BROWN

999 € ST NW # 709
HASHINGTON DC 20463

APRIL 5, 2005

ALEXANDER G MACFADYEN JR

FIRST CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC POLITICAL
3128 SMOKETREE COURT '

RALEIGH NC 27604

€00334193
AFg: 1275

DEAR ALEXANDER G MACFADYEN JR:

THE FEDERAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN ACT OF 1971y AS AMENDED ("THE
ACT™)y, REQUIRES THAT YOUR COMMITTEE FILE A 12 DAY PRE-GENERAL REPORT
OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS IN A CALENDAR YEAR DURING WHICH THERE
IS A REGULARLY SCHEODULED ELECTICNe. THIS REPORT 1S REQUIRED IF YOUR
COMMITTEE MAKES A CONTRIBUTION TGO OR EXPENDITURE CON BEHALF OF A
CANDIDATE IN THE GENERAL ELECTIONe THIS REPORTs COVERING THE PERIGD
THROUGH OCTOBER 13THs SHALL BE FILED NO LATER THAN OCTOBER 215T. 2
UeSele 4#34(A)e YDU WERE PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIED OF THE DUE DATE FOR
THIS REPORTe RECORDS AT THE FEOERAL ELECTION COMMISSION (®FEC™")
INDICATE THAT THIS REPCRT WAS NOT FILED PRIOR TO FOUR (4) DAYS
BEFORE THE GENERAL ELECTION HELD ON NOVEMBER 2NDe. YOU SHOULD FILE
THE REPORT IF YOU HAVE NOT ALREADY DONE SOC.

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDCED IN 1999 TO PERMIT THE FEC TO IMPOSE
CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES FOR VIGLATIONS OF THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
OF 2 UesSeCe 434(A)e 2 UeSele 437G(ANI{4)s ON 0470172005y THE FEC
FOUND THAT THERE IS REASCON TG BELIEVE (®RTB™) THAT FIRST CITIZENS
BANCSHARES INC POLITICAL AND YOU, AS TREASURERs VIOLATED 2 UeSe(s
434(A) BY FAILING TO FILE TIMELY THIS REPORT ON UR BEFORE OCTOBER
215Te BASED ON THE FEC'S SCHEDULES OF CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES AT 11
CeFeRe 11lle43y THE AMOUNT COF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT
THE RTB STAGE IS $500. 1T IS DUE BY 0571172005 AND IS BASED ON
THESE FACTORS: :

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT: ELECTION SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY: 31090

NUMBER OF DAYS LATE: NOT FILED

NUMBER OF PREVIOUS CIVIL MCNEY PENALTIES ASSESSED: O
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TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, SEND THE ENCLOSED
REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENY TO THE FEC AT THE AODRESS ON PAGE 3.
UPON RECEIPT OF YOUR PAYMENT, THE FEC WILL SEND YOQU A FINAL
DETERMINATION LETTER.

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTYs YOU MUST SUBMIT A WRITTEN RESPONSEs INCLUDING THE AF# FOUND
ON PAGE ONEy TO THE FEC®S COFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW» 999 E
STREETs NWe WASHINGTON, OC 20463. VYOUR RESPONSE MUST BE RECEIVED
BY 05/11/2005. YOUR WRITTEN RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE REASON{S) MWHY
YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RTE FINDING AND/CR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY. THE FEC WILL ONLY CONSIDER CHALLENGES THAT ARE BASED ON A
FACTUAL ERRORy MISCALCULATION GF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
BY THE FECy COR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRAOROINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PERSISTED FOR MORE THAN 48 HCURS THAT WERE BEYOND YOUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTED YOU FROM FILING THE REPORT IN A TIMELY MANNER. YOUR
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL B8ASIS SUPPORTING THE REASON(S) AND
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATIONe THE FEC STRONGLY ENCOURAGES THAT DOCUMENTS
BE SUBMITTED IN THE FORM OF AFFIDAVITS OR DECLARATIONS. EXAMPLES OF
CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED EXTRAORDINARY INCLUDEs BUT
ARE NOT LIMITED TOy NEGLIGENCEs PRUBLEMS WITH VENDGRS OR
CONTRACTORSsy STAFF ILLNESS, COMPUTER. FAILURES AND SIMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCESe 11 CeFeRe 111.35(8)(1)(111) AND {4).

YOUR FAILURE TO RAISE AN ARGUMENT IN A TIMELY FASHION DURING THE
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS SHALL BE OEEMED A WAIVER OF YOUR RIGHT TO
PRESENT SUCH ARGUMENT IN A PETITION TG THE DISTRICT COURT UNDER 2
UeSeCe %437Ge 11 CeFeRas 111ls38.

IF YOU INTEND TO BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSELy PLEASE ADVISE THE
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWe YQOU SHOULD PROVIDEs IN WRITING,
THE NAMEs ADDRESS ANC TELEPHONE NUMBER GOF YOUR COUNSEL AND AUTHORIZE
COUNSEL 7O RECEIVE NOTIFICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THIS
CHALLENGE AND IMPOSITION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

IF YOU DG NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
CHALLENGE

IF YOU DO NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
WRITTEN RESPONSEy THE FEC WILL ASSUME THAT THE PRECEDING FACTUAL
ALLEGATIONS ARE TRUE AND MAKE A FINAL DETERMINATION THAT FIRST
CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC POLITICAL AND YQUs AS TREASURERy VIOLATED 2
UeSeCe 434(A) AND ASSESS A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

UNPAIO CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE REGULATIONS WILL BE SUBJECT TO THE DEBT COLLECTION ACT OF
1982("DCA")AS AMENDED BY THE DEBT COLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACT OF
19965 31 UeSelas 3701 ET SEQe THE FECL MAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACTION AUTHORIZED AND REQUIRED BY THE DCAy AS AMENDED»
INCLUDING TRANSFER TO THE UeSe DEPARTHENT OF THE TREASURY FOR
COLLECTIONe 11 CeFeRe 1ile45.

THIS MATTER WAS GENERATED BASED ON INFORMATICON ASCERTAINED BY
THE FEC IN THE NORMAL COURSE OF CARRYING OUT ITS SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIESe 2 UeSsCe 437G{ANI2)e IT WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
IN ACCORDANCE WITH 2 UeSeCe 437GLAML4)(B) AND 437G(AIL12)CA) UNTIL
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1T IS PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECORD IN ACCORDANCE HWITH 11 CeFeRe
111429 UNLESS YOU NOTIFY THE FEC IN WRITING THAT YOU WISH THE
MATTER TO BE MADE PUBLIC.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE FEC®S ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PROGRAMy
INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATICONS, IS LOCATED AT THE FEC®S WEBSITE AT
WHWeFECoeGOVe IF YOU HAVE QUESTIGNS REGARDING THE PAYMENT OF THE
CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYs PLEASE CONTACT DAYNA Ce. BROWN IN THE
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISICN AT DUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530 (AT
THE PROMPTy PRESS 5) OR (202)694~-1130. 1F YOU HAVE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE SUBMISSION OF A CHALLENGEs, PLEASE CONTACT THE OFFICE
OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT CUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530
{PRESS Oy THEN EXTe 1660) COR (20216941660

SINCERELYy
SCOTT £ THOMAS
CHAIRMAN
* * » * X * * » % * * * % *

ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CeFeRe
111.43, THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB IS
$500 FOR THE 2004 12 DAY PRE-GENERAL REPORT.

PLEASE MAIL THIS REMITTANCE WITH A CHECK OR MONEY.  ORDER MAODE
PAYABLE TO THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION TO THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS:

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Pe0e BOX 952182
ST. LOUISs MO 63195-2182

If YOU CHOOSE TO SEND YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT BY COURIER OR
OVERNIGHT DELIVERYy PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESSS
UeSe BANK - GOVERNMENT LOCKBCX
FEC #952182
1005 CONVENTION PLAZA
STe LOQUIS, MO 63101

THE REMITTANCE AND YOQUR PAYMENT ARE DUE B8Y 05/117/2005. UPON
RECEIPT OF YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENTs THE FEC WILL SEND YOU A
FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BELCW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

- —— - A > - N T A D T D D D D D W O T T S D D D U SO D Dy Ay e <

FOR: FIRST CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC POLITICAL
FEC 10%: C00334193

AF#s 1215

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 0571172005

PAYMENT AMOUNT OUE: $500
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> May26,2005

MEMOM@UM SE“SITWE

TO: THE COMMISSION
'THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR // /
ROBERT J. COSTA 7%
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON

ASSISTANT STAFH DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2004 12 DAY PRE-
GENERAL

Attached are two lists of political commiittees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at the RTB stage for failure to file the 2004 12 Day Pre-General

‘Report. The first list represents committees that have paid the civil money penalties and

the second list represents the committees that have not paid. The committees that have
not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the RTB notification to
remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. §111.34 and 11 C.F.R. §111.40, the Commission

" shall send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not

paid the civil money penalty.

For your information, two of the committees that have paid the fine
assessed at RTB will require refunds. Calumet PAC (AF #1270) and Women Working
for the Future AKA The Future PAC (AF #1281) each filed the 12 Day Pre-General
Report after the RTB finding. The reports disclosed lower levels of activity than reported
at the time of RTB, thereby lowering the civil money penalty from $600 to $500 for both
committees. The committees paid the civil money penalty assessed at RTB; we will
therefore issue a refund of $100 to each committee.
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RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. §434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so
indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate mailgrams.

(3) Issue $100 refunds to both Calumet PAC (AF #1270) and Women Working for the
Future AKA The Future PAC (AF #1281).
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE PAID
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20463 SE“S‘T‘vE

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Thursday, May 26, 2005 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Wednesday, June 01, 2005 4':00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation for
the 2004 12 Day Pre-General under the Administrative Fine Program.
Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director Reports Analysis

ag Division dated May 26, 2005.

&)
Ty () | approve the recommendation(s)

™)

::;:; () | object to the recommendation(s)
‘ ;;: () | approve the recommendations except those following
§ n?‘:l to which | object (please insert AF#)

LA
el
() | approve the recommendations except those following

in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fines Final Determination
Recommendation for the 2004 12 Day Pre-
General:
CALUMET PAC, and TERRENCE
BRONOWSKI as treasurer;
BLUE SHIELD OF CALIFORNIA
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
by STEVEN STURMAN as treasurer;
g EXPERIAN NORTH AMERICA INC.
'j; POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
o (EXPERIAN PAC), and Reeves, Anthony
vy D. Mr. as treasurer;
£ FIRST CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC
| E; POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
LA (FIRST CITIZENS BANCSHARES PAC),
ey and ALEXANDER G MACFADYEN JR as
: treasurer,
TUOE OPERATING ENGINEERS, and
JAMES JONES as treasurer;
i LIVESTOCK MARKETING
o ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (LMA-PAC), and NANCY J
ROBINSON as treasurer; :
NEWMONT MINING CORPORATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(NEWPAC), and Donnelly, Mary Elizabeth
as treasurer; '
UNITED BROTHERHOOD OF _
CARPENTERS/JOINERS OF AMER NEW
ENGLAND REG CARPENTERS LEGIS
EMP CMTE, and GLENN MARSHALL as
treasurer,
WOMEN WORKING FOR THE FUTURE
; AKA THE FUTURE PAC, and Huffman,
Alice as treasurer;

AF# 1270

AF# 1272

AF# 1274

AF# 1275

AF# 1276

AF# 1277
AF# 1278

AF# 1279

AF# 1281

e’ N N’ N’ N N’ N N N N N N N N N N N N N N S S’ N S N N S N N N N N N N N S N
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Federal Election Co‘ission . Page 2
Certification for Administrative Fines :
June 01, 2005

CERTIFICATION

L Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby
certify that on June 01, 2A005 the Commission took the following actions on the
Administrative Fines Final Determination Recorﬁmendation for the 2004 12 Day Pre-
General as recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated May 26,

2005, on the following committees:

. AF#1270 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that

;}‘: CALUMET PAC, and TERRENCE BRONOWSKI as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate mailgram.

£, Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted

f‘:: affirmatively for the decision.

;22 - AF#1272 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that BLUE

L SHIELD OF CALIFORNIA POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and STEVEN

™ STURMAN as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so

; indicated; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1274 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
EXPERIAN NORTH AMERICA INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(EXPERIAN PAC), and Reeves, Anthony D. Mr. as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate mailgram.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1275 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that FIRST
CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FIRST
CITIZENS BANCSHARES PAC), and ALEXANDER G MACFADYEN JR as
treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1276 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that [IUOE
OPERATING ENGINEERS, and JAMES JONES as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate mailgram.
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Federal Election Co'ﬂssion : . Page 3

Certification for Administrative Fines
June 01, 2005

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1277 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
LIVESTOCK MARKETING ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(LMA-PAC), and NANCY J ROBINSON as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate mailgram.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1278 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
NEWMONT MINING CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(NEWPAC), and Donnelly, Mary Elizabeth as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate mailgram.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1279 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that UNITED
BROTHERHOOD OF CARPENTERS/JOINERS OF AMER NEW ENGLAND REG
CARPENTERS LEGIS EMP CMTE, and GLENN MARSHALL as treasurer , violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1281 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that WOMEN
WORKING FOR THE FUTURE AKA THE FUTURE PAC, and Huffman, Alice as
treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

Q&/;w Z, 2005 % @/» Z/Ome,

Date Mary W,Dove
Secretafy of the Commission
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CONFIRMATION OF HMAILGRAM TC:ALEXANDER & MALFAOYEN JR
FIRST CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC Pal
3128 SMOKETREE (T
RALEIGH NC 27604-1014

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
DAYNA BROUWN

999 £ ST NW # 709
WASHINGTON DC 20463

JUNE 3, 2005

ALEXANDER G MACFADYEN JR

FIRST CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC PAC
3128 SMOKETREE COURT

RALEIGH NC 27604

C00334193
AFd#: 1275

DEAR ALEXANDER G MACFADYEN JR: _

ON 0470172005, THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSIGN (M"FEC™) FOUND
REASON TO BELIEVE (mRTB™) THAY FIRST CITIZENS BSANCSHARES INC PAC AND
YOUs AS TREASURERy VIOLATED 2 UeSele 434(8) FOR FILING LATE OR
FAILING TG FILE THE 2004 12 LAY PRE-GENERAL REPORT. 38Y MAILGRAM
OATED 0470572005y THE FEC SENT YOU NOTIFICATION OF THE RT8 FINDING
THAT INCLUDED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RYTB STAGE OF
$500 IN ACCORDANCE MWITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CeFeRe
111le.43. :

ON 05/05/2005y THE FEC RECEIVED PAYMENT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTB STAGE. THEREFUOREs THE FEC MADE A
FINAL DETERMINATION ON 0670172005 THAT YCuUs AS TREASURERs AND FIRST
CITIZENS BANCSHARES INC PAL VIODLATED 2 UeSeCe 434(A)y ASSESSED A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $500 IN ACCORCANCE WiTH 11
CeFeRe 111443y AND VOTED TC CLOSE THE FlLE.

THE CONFIDENTIALITY PRGOVISIONS AT 2 UeSeCe 437G(A){12) NO LONGER
APPLY AND THIS MATTER IS NOW PUBLIC. THE FILE WILL BE MADE A PART
OF THE PUBLIC RECORD PURSUANT TO 11 CeFeRe 111.42(8)e ALTHOUGH THE
FILE MUSTY B8E PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECORD WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS
FROM THE OATE OF THE COMMISSIONNOTIFICATIGONs THIS COULD OCCUR AT
ANYTIME FCOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE CCHMMISSIONVOTE.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTICNS REGARDING THIS MATTER, PLEASE CONTACT
DAYNA BRCWN ON OUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)1424-9530 (AT THE PROWPT
PRESS S5) OR (202)694-1130.

SINCERELY,
SCOTT E. THOMAS
CHAIRMAN

PWF (15(20031201)
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May 2, 2005

Federal Election Commission
Post Office Box 952182
St. Louis, MO 63195-2182

RE: First Citizens BancShares, Inc. Political Action Committee
FEC ID# C00334193
AF# 1275

Ladies and Gentlemen:

In your April 5, 2005 Mailgram, you outline a deficiency resulting from the failure of the
First Citizens BancShares, Inc. Political Action Committee to file a 12-Day Pre-General
Report for the General Election (the Pre-Election Report).

Upon review of our records, we do find that we did fail to file Pre-Election Report.
However, the receipts and disbursements that would have been included in the Pre-
Election Report (had it been filed) were included in the 30-Day Post Election Report for '
the General Election (the Post-Election Report). Our Post-Election Report covered the -
period from October 1, 2004 through November 22, 2004.

Following instructions received from Mary Siler of the Federal Elections Commission on
April 7, 2005, we have not ‘corrected’ this omission by filing a Pre-Election Report since
the information that would have been reported in the Pre-Election Report was instead
included on the Post-Election Report that was timely filed.

We regret this error. Enclosed is a check for $500.
If you have any questions, please contact John Gray at (919)716-7337.

Sincerely,

(inandn ) mc}uy,, % /?)g

Alexander G. MacFadyen, Jr.
Treasurer

+ " First Citizens BancShares, Inc. Political Action Committee

Enclosure

PO Box 27131 Raleigh, NC 27611-7131
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington DC 20463

THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE # /27§

DATE SCANNED 7/ ) As’
|

SCANNER NO.

SCAN OPERATOR £
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